INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Dec 21 2022

03:10PM EST

Transaction ID 68707727

C.S., Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

vs.) No. 22-ICA-141

١

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, Chris and Sandra Lee Jensen, Matthew Whitcomb, Don wrye, Anthony Naegle & Christopher Michael Jensen, Defendants Below, Respondents

PETITIONER'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

/s/ Christian J. Riddell Christian J. Riddell, Esq. Riddell Law Group 329 South Queen Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 (304) 267-3949 WV Bar No: 12202 Counsel for the Petitioner

I.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS AND SHOULD BE ENFORCED ALONG ITS CLEAR TERMS WHILE ALSO FINDING THAT IT SHOULD BE STRETCHED TO INCLUDE PROTECTIONS FOR NON-SIGNATORIES WHERE NO LANGUAGE FROM THE AGREEMENT INDICATES ANY INTENT TO BENEFIT ANY THIRD PARTY.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case at bar revolves around claims made by Petitioner C.S. and his brother, M.S., relating to sexual abuse they suffered as children when Respondent Michael Jensen, whom the other named Respondent's had conspired to place in Petitioner's home in order to hide him from authorities investigating his many other instances of child sexual abuse, repeatedly molested them.

Michael Jensen is the son of Respondents Chris and Sandra Jensen, who are distinguished leaders within the Mormon Church, and the Church appears to have acted in all respects so as to aid the Jensens in covering up their sons repeated heinous sex crimes against many different children, and thereby avoid embarrassment for both the Jensens and the Church itself.

All named Respondents were fully aware of Michael Jenson's lengthy and grotesque history of sexually abusing children in a variety of different settings, and, despite this knowledge, all of them not only failed to report Michael Jensen to the authorities (*See Complaint* (Appendix Record ("AR pg. 13")) ¶ 14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 28-30, 58, 62-64, 68, 71-75), but, further, made efforts to coerce Plaintiffs' parents, through both affirmative misrepresentations and material omissions, into allowing Michael Jensen to live with them in their home. *Id.* at ¶ 83, 88, 89. This was done expressly to hide Michael Jensen from a police investigation into his sexual abuse of children. *Id.* at ¶ 103. In addition, many of the named

Respondents, including Respondents Grow, Fishel, the Jensens, and Neagel, actively attempted to dissuade the victims of Michael's sexual abuse and/or their families from reporting said abuse to the police. *Id.* at ¶ 32, 93, 94, 95.

Plaintiff C.S., who has until age 36 to raise any claims related to sexual abuse of a minor per W.Va. Code § 55-2-15, brought claims as a juvenile through his father - along with 4 other families representing 11 different children who had been sexually abused by Michael Jensen and 19 total Plaintiffs (including claims of the parents themselves) - against some of the Defendants, to wit, the Church Defendants as well as Defendants Grow, Fishel, Michael Jensen, Christopher Jensen, and Sandra Jensen, alleging various negligence causes of action, fraud, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and civil conspiracy in September of 2013 in the Berkeley County Circuit Court under case number 13-C-656. See Plaintiff's Response on Motion to Dismiss (AR pg. 411). Thereafter, Petitioner – in an effort to simplify the litigation and due to the extraordinary pressure brought to bear through Defendants harassing and vexatious litigation strategy (as was duplicated in the case at bar through Respondents subsequently denied Motion for Sanctions) - moved for voluntary dismissal of his claims along with multiple other juvenile Plaintiffs, which were voluntarily dismissed without prejudice from the litigation by Order of the Berkeley County Circuit Court on April 16, 2015. See Ibid.

Thereafter, C.S. made an agreement with a single Defendant from the prior litigation, to wit, the Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints ("COP")¹, to arbitrate his claims against them. *See Id.* at Exhibit B. There were no other parties to the Arbitration Agreement, no named third-party beneficiaries to the Arbitration Agreement, and no waiver or release for any Defendant named in the instant suit contained within the

¹ COP was later merged with certain other church organizations into The Church of Jesus Christ of Later Day Saints, a Utah Corporation-Sole ("CHC")

Arbitration Agreement or existing in any other capacity. The arbitration resulted in a summary opinion by Arbitrator Nancy Lessor, drafted without any attendant findings of fact or conclusions of law, finding that COP was not liable to C.S. for negligence, but without providing explanation as to why. *See Id.* at Exhibit C.

Plaintiff C.S. then brought claims against all named Respondents, excepting COP², based on a variety of causes of action for their various roles in either abusing him (in the case of Michael Jensen) or (for the remaining Defendants) in facilitating said abuse through their various acts and omissions as detailed in Petitioner's Complaint. Both COP and the individually named Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss in response. Each motion argued that further suit against anyone by C.S. related to his claims of sexual assault are precluded by language of the Arbitration Agreement and by the doctrine of *Res Judicata*.

After the matter was fully briefed, the Court heard oral argument on May 16, 2022 as to the outstanding motions.³ Thereafter, the Court issued an Order Granting the Respondent's Motions to Dismiss on the basis that Petitioner's claims were precluded by the arbitration agreement. Said the Court:

The first issue for the Court's determination is whether the arbitration agreement entered into by C.S. is ambiguous. The arbitration agreement states that "the Parties mutually consent to the resolution of all [C.S.'s] claims or controversies that were or could have been asserted in Jane Doe-1, et al., v. Corporation of the President of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, et al." The Court concludes that this language is not ambiguous, as it is not reasonably susceptible to different meanings.

² Petitioner originally also brought claims against another church entity, the Corporation of the Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints ("COPB") and its successor organization (referred to at footnote 1 as "CHC") but thereafter agreed to their dismissal after early discovery was exchanged between the parties showing COPB's privity with COP. As a result, there are no church entities which are named as Respondents in the instant appeal, and the appeal is exclusively related to Petitioner's claims against the named Respondents in their personal and individual capacities.

³ In addition to the motions to dismiss, Respondents Grow and Fishel, along with COPB, brought a motion for sanctions which was also disposed of (via a denial) at the May 16, 2022 hearing. The denial of this motion has not been appealed by any party and will therefore not be discussed further.

The Court finds it compelling, persuasive and dispositive that all the allegations raised by C.S. in the current complaint could have been raised in prior litigation; i.e., Jane Doe-1, filed in 2013. Although there are some new factual allegations and individual defendants in the newly filed complaint, the allegations and the identification of other defendants could have been made in the original litigation. Indeed, Plaintiff's counsel admitted and acknowledged on the record that the facts alleged in the current complaint could have been raised in the initial complaint filed by C.S., and the Court recognizes that acknowledgement as an undisputable finding of fact. The Court therefore finds that the arbitration agreement, read in its totality, and with plain meaning given the language, is not ambiguous. The Court notes that C.S. was represented by counsel at all stages of the litigation, including arbitration, and that C.S. entered into mediation voluntarily. The Court further finds that a final disposition of C.S. 's claims through arbitration was the intent of the parties at the time as set forth in the arbitration agreement which clearly states, "[W]hereby the parties recognize and desire the benefits of a speedy, impartial, final and binding dispute resolution procedure."

Given the Court's findings with respect to the arbitration agreement and its lack of ambiguity, it is not necessary for this court to rule on the issue of privity which is part of Defendants' res judicata arguments.

See Order from May 16, 2022 Hearing Granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss and Denying Motion for Sanctions ("AR pg. 1209").

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a Motion to Alter under Rule 59(e) wherein Petitioner argued that the Court had failed to address arguments made in his previous response on motion to dismiss related to the lack of a valid contractual agreement between Petitioner and the individually named Defendants. Petitioner further requested, in the event the Court did not grant its motion, for certification under Rule 54(b) of Petitioner's claims for immediate appeal. The Respondent's objected to Petitioner's motion under Rule 59(c) but consented to immediate appeal under Rule 54(b) of Petitioner's claims separate and apart from the claims raised by brother, M.S., which remained pending with the Court. See Plaintiff C.S.'s Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter the Court's Order of June 6, 2022 or, in the Alternative, Request for Certification under Rule 54(b) (AR pg. 1213).

⁴ Plaintiff M.S.'s claims were thereafter voluntarily dismissed by him in order to allow him time to obtain new counsel.

On July 20, 2022, the Court denied Petitioner's Motion to Alter, but granted Petitioner's Motion for Certification under Rule 54(b). See Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part Plaintiff's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter the Court's Order of June 7, 2022 or, in the Alternative, Request for Certification Under Rule 54(b) (AR pg. 1304). This appeal follows:

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court erred by finding that the Arbitration Agreement unambiguously precluded Petitioner from ever again filing suit against anyone for any actions related to the sexual abuse he suffered as a child while simultaneously also holding that the Arbitration Agreement can be applied without construction or interpretation to include binding protections for individuals who were neither signatories to the agreement, parties to the original suit, or stated third party beneficiaries in the Arbitration Agreement. Under the law, the Agreement was not enforceable vis-à-vis the non church defendants because it did not constitute a valid contract by and between those parties for a variety of reasons.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner avers that oral argument under Rule 19 would be useful in articulating the issues for the Court's consideration because the matter involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and further involves a narrow issue of law.

VII. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS AND SHOULD BE ENFORCED ALONG ITS CLEAR TERMS WHILE ALSO FINDING THAT IT SHOULD BE STRETCHED TO INCLUDE PROTECTIONS FOR NON-SIGNATORIES WHERE NO LANGUAGE FROM THE AGREEMENT INDICATES ANY INTENT TO BENEFIT ANY THIRD PARTY.

While the Court's finding that the Arbitration Agreement precludes Petitioner's lawsuit was reasonable (and, ultimately, agreed to) as to Church entity COPB, it is erroneous as to the

remaining individual Respondents because these Respondents were neither signatories to the Agreement nor were they in privity of contract with COP.

The Court disposed of Petitioner's claims by finding that the Arbitration Agreement was clear and unambiguous as to its preclusion of any future suits by Petitioner against anyone for injuries suffered from his sexual assault at the hands of Michael Jensen. The Court made this finding based on a single sentence in the arbitration agreement, which reads as follows:

The Parties mutually consent to the resolution of all [C.S.'s] claims or controversies that were or could have been asserted in Jane Doe-1, et al., v. Corporation of the President of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, et al.

However, the Circuit Court never explained under what legal theory of contract it could apply the protections of the arbitration agreement to the entire universe of non-signatories to the agreement, especially to those who were never even named as Defendants in the prior litigation.

Respondents' claims to protection under through the Arbitration Agreement is belied by the clear language of the agreement, which was made *only* between C.S. and the Corporation of the President ("COP"). It begins by noting that it is "by and between, [C.S.], on the one hand, and Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints ("COP") on the other hand." *The Agreement*, p. 1. On the signature page, only the signatures of C.S., COP, and their respective counsel appear. *Id.* at p. 4. There are no other parties to the agreement whatsoever, including no other corporate entities associated with the Church (i.e. the Corporation of the Presiding Bishop ("COPB"), and none of the other named Defendants. Instead, the language of the arbitration agreement speaks specifically, repeatedly, and exclusively to the COP entity only. The preamble of the agreement states the following:

WHEREAS, [C.S.] has indicated that he plans to re-assert various previously dismissed without prejudice tort claims against COP; WHEREAS the Parties and desire the benefits of a speedy, impartial, final and binding dispute resolution procedure; NOW, THEREFORE

for these reasons and in consideration of the mutual promises in this Agreement, the Parties mutually consent to the resolution by arbitration of all [C.S.'] claims or controversies that were or could have been asserted in Jane Doe-1, et al., v. Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, et al., Civil Action No. 13-C-656, Circuit Court of Berkeley Count, West Virginia ("Claims").

See Plaintiff's Response on Motion to Dismiss (AR pg. 439), Exhibit B.

This clause is clear and unambiguous. C.S. planned to re-assert his tort claims against COP.

The Parties' [i.e. C.S. and COP] minds met and they agreed to resolution by arbitration of all claims that would or could have been asserted, rather than by litigation. There is not a word in here which suggests that the agreement is meant to include any additional parties other than the named signatories.

West Virginia law makes clear that Arbitration Agreements are binding only insomuch as any other contract would be binding, and they are susceptible to all defenses ordinarily available against enforcement of a contract. See *Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson*, 737 S.E.2d 550, 555 (W.Va. 2012) ("general state contract principles still apply [to arbitration agreements] to assess whether those agreements to arbitrate are valid and enforceable, just as they would to any other contract dispute arising under state law.... The purpose of section 2 [of the Federal Arbitration Act^5] 'is for courts to treat arbitration agreements like any other contract. The act does not favor or elevate arbitration agreements to a level of importance above all other contracts."")

"The Fundamentals of a legal contract are competent parties, legal subject matter, valuable consideration and mutual assent. There can be no contract if there is one of these essential elements upon which the minds of the parties are not in agreement." "Id. at Syllabus

⁵ The Arbitration Agreement between C.S. and COP does not specify whether it is being made pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 USC § 1 et seq., or the West Virginia Revised Uniform Arbitration Act, W.Va. Code § 55-10-1 et seq. However, given that COP and Plaintiff C.S. were diverse parties from different states, federal jurisdiction per the Constitution's commerce clause would apply to any dispute occurring between them, making the federal statute appear most applicable.

Point 3. Sec also Syllabus Point 1, First Nat. Bank of Gallipolis v. Marietta Mfg. Co., 151 W.Va. 636, 153 S.E.2d 172 (1967); Syllabus Point 5, Virginian Export Coal Co. v. Rowland Land Co., 100 W.Va. 559, 131 S.E. 253 (1926)..." Additionally, "A promise or contract where there is no valuable consideration, and where there is no benefit moving to the promisor or damage or injury to the promise, is void." Dan Ryan, supra, at Syllabus Point 4; See also Syllabus Point 2, Sturm v. Parish, 1 W.Va. 125 (1865).

Moreover, even where otherwise valid, contracts can be invalidated for being unconscionable. The doctrine of unconscionability "consists primarily of equitable principles that have meaning only in the context of specific factual circumstances." *McMellon v. Adkins*, 171 W.Va. 475, 477, 300 S.E.2d 116, 118 (1983). "The concept of unconscionability must be applied in a flexible manner, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances of a particular case." Syllabus Point 3, in part, *Board of Ed. of Berkeley County v. W. Harley Miller, Inc.*, 160 W.Va. 473, 236 S.E.2d 439 (1977).

Here, any supposed contractual obligation requiring Petitioner to forever release all non-COP/CHC Defendants from liability based on the Arbitration Agreement would appear to violate almost all of the above-described elements (excepting legal subject matter). It would not be between competent parties because none of these Defendants are parties to the Agreement. It would not be by mutual assent because neither Plaintiff C.S. nor any non-COP defendant made any express agreement to arbitrate C.S.'s claims against them. It would further not be based on any consideration, as there is nothing in the Arbitration agreement which offers consideration for releasing unnamed parties from liability and there is nothing in the agreement which suggests that the defendants named in the instant Complaint would have been held jointly liable had C.S. prevailed at arbitration. Moreover, to the extent the parties might argue that the consideration for

such a promise was COP's agreement to engage in binding arbitration, then the agreement is unconscionable because it creates a right of recovery for C.S. only upon success at arbitration and only against COP, while creating total immunity in the event of a finding for COP not only on behalf of COP, but also on behalf the entire universe of people who may be personally liable for their own acts of misconduct in facilitating C.S.'s sexual abuse, including protecting the abuser himself, Michael Jensen.

Additionally, the Arbitration Agreement itself drafted by Defendants and their counsel, and it is a well-known axiom of contract interpretation that ambiguities are construct against the drafter, See Payne v. Weston, 466 S.E.2d 161, 195 W.Va. 502 (W.Va. 1995); Syllabus Point 3, Auber v. Jellen, 196 W.Va. 168, 469 S.E.2d 104 (1996); State ex. Rel. Richmond American Homes of West Virginia v. Honorable David Sanders, Docket No. 11-0770 (W.Va. 2011) at Slip Op. p. 30. The suggestion that the arbitration agreement was meant not only to bind the party signatories, but also the entire universe of possible additional parties who are not signatories to the agreement, is wholly without merit based on the language of the Agreement itself and, to the extent that this discrepancy amounts to an ambiguity not clearly resolved by the direct language of the Agreement, said ambiguity must be construed against Defendant COP's position as the drafter of the Agreement. The Court's finding that the language of the agreement relating to Petitioner's agreement to resolve all claims it could have brought is clear and unambiguous is blatantly belied by this discrepancy, as the clause begs the question of how it could possibly be applied to protect unnamed individuals who were never parties to the prior lawsuit and were not parties to the Arbitration Agreement itself.

The Court, in its Order from May 16, 2022 Hearing Granting Defendants Motions to Dismiss and Denying Motion for Sanctions (AR pg. 1209), in making its finding as to a lack of

ambiguity, did not address the issue of whether a valid contract existed, prompting Petitioner's motion under Rule 59(e), wherein Petitioner argued:

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