OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Feb 06 2023 01:18PM EST

Transaction ID 69080688

Appeal No. 22-ICA-141

C.S.,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

 \mathbf{v} .

THE CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST OF
LATTER-DAY SAINTS, CHRIS AND
SANDRALEE JENSEN, MATTHEW
WHITCOMB, DON WRYE, ANTHONY
NAEGLE, AND CHRISTOPHER MICHAEL
JENSEN,

Respondents/Defendants.

Brief of Respondents Steven Grow and Donald Fishel

William J. Powell (W. Va. Bar No. 2961) STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC 1250 Edwin Miller Blvd., Suite 300 Martinsburg, WV 25404

Allen M. Gardner (Admitted PHV) Sarah M. Gragert (Admitted PHV) LATHAM & WATKINS LLP 555 Eleventh Street, NW, Suite 1000 Washington, DC 20004-1304

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

C.S. asserts that Fishel and Grow (and the other Respondents) cannot benefit from the Arbitration Agreement because they did not give consideration. (Petitioner's Br. at 8.) But the Church gave consideration for the release of *all* claims. The question is one of interpretation, not consideration.

And C.S. did receive valuable consideration. He was able to avoid the expenses, burden, and slower pace of traditional litigation, while still seeking full recovery for his alleged injuries. He only had to sue the Church because it assumed liability for any Church entity or Church agent. The Church agreed to arrange for testimony from Bishop Fishel, President Grow, Chris Vincent, and Matthew Whitcomb. (Appx. 440.) And they agreed to voluntarily testify—some at both a deposition and the final hearing—to avoid being named as defendants. (Appx. 520.)

¹¹ This was a valuable promise. An arbitrator can issue subpoenas for testimony from in-state witnesses at the arbitration hearing, but not for out-of-state witnesses or depositions. *See* W. Va. Code § 55-10-19. *See also Colo. Mills, LLC v. Sunopta Grains & Foods Inc.*, 269 P.3d 731 (Colo. 2012) (holding that under the RUAA (which West Virginia follows) arbitrators cannot enforce subpoenas against out-of-state parties).

C. The Arbitration Agreement is not unconscionable.

C.S. argues that if the Church's consideration is all that is required, "then the agreement is unconscionable because it creates a right of recovery for C.S. only upon success at arbitration and only against [the Church], while creating total immunity" for others "including protecting the abuser himself, Michael Jensen." (Petitioner's Br. at 8-9.) But that is not the least bit unconscionable. At every stage, C.S. alleged that the individual Defendants were Church agents. He was always after the Church, which is the only party with the financial resources to provide meaningful recovery. Giving up the right to sue individual Defendants (including the incarcerated Michael Jensen) hardly makes the agreement unconscionable.

D. The Arbitration Agreement is unambiguous and was mutually negotiated.

Finally, C.S. asserts that the Arbitration Agreement should be construed against the Church because it was drafted by the Church's counsel. C.S.'s counsel keeps making this argument even though it is patently false. It was a negotiated contract with substantial input from C.S.'s attorney. (Appx. 468-73.) "[T]he 'contra proferentem' canon is meant primarily for cases where the written contract is standardized and

between parties of unequal bargaining power." Yellowbook Inc. v. Brandeberry, 708 F.3d 837, 847 (6th Cir. 2013) (quotation marks omitted). Cf. Payne v. Weston, 466 S.E.2d 161, 166 (W. Va. 1995) (holding that ambiguities in insurance policies are construed against drafter). The doctrine has no application here.

In sum, the circuit court's conclusion was correct, and this Court should affirm.

III. C.S.'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY RES JUDICATA.

The circuit court could just as easily have found that res judicata bars C.S.'s claims against Bishop Fishel and President Grow, as they argued below. After concluding that C.S.'s claims should be dismissed based on the Arbitration Agreement, the circuit court declined to address res judicata. (Appx. 1211.) But this Court "may affirm a circuit court for any reason disclosed by the record." *Banbury Holdings, LLC v. May*, 837 S.E.2d 695, 697 n.4 (W. Va. 2019). *See also* Syl. Pt. 2, *Adkins v. Gatson*, 624 S.E.2d 769 (2005) ("This Court may ... affirm ... on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." (quotation marks omitted)).

"Res judicata ... bars a party from suing on a claim that has already been litigated to a final judgment by that party ... and precludes the assertion by such parties of any legal theory, cause of action, or defense which could have been asserted in that action." Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev., Inc., 803 S.E.2d 519, 530 (W. Va. 2017). By doing so it "assures that judgments are conclusive, thus avoiding relitigation of issues that were or could have been raised in the original action." Id. at 529.

"The application of res judicata to bar litigation involves a question of law" Mountain Am., LLC v. Huffman, 735 S.E.2d 711, 713 (W. Va. 2012). Thus, it may be, and frequently is, resolved on a motion to dismiss. See Lloyd's, Inc. v. Lloyd, 693 S.E.2d 451, 460 (W. Va. 2010) (affirming dismissal based on res judicata where plaintiff's claim "could have been resolved had it been presented in the prior litigation"); Baker v. Chemours Co. FC, LLC, 855 S.E.2d 344 (W. Va. 2021) (affirming grant of motion to dismiss based on res judicata).

Res judicata depends on three things:

First, there must have been a final adjudication on the merits in the prior action by a court having jurisdiction of the proceedings. Second, the two actions must involve either the same parties or persons in privity with those same parties.

Third, the cause of action identified for resolution in the subsequent proceeding either must be identical to the cause of action determined in the prior action or must be such that it could have been resolved, had it been presented, in the prior action.

Syl. Pt. 2, *Dan Ryan Builders*, 803 S.E.2d at 521 (quotation marks omitted). Each element is satisfied here.

A. The Arbitrator's award satisfies res judicata's first requirement – a final adjudication on the merits.

C.S. fully litigated his claims in the 2019 arbitration. He was represented by counsel. He conducted all the discovery he wanted. He also used the discovery developed during six years of litigation in the 2013 Lawsuit. He participated in a full evidentiary hearing. And the arbitrator entered a final adjudication on the merits.

A final adjudication on the merits in arbitration satisfies res judicata's first requirement. See Cabot Oil & Gas Corp. v. Beaver Coal Co., Ltd., Civ. A. Nos. 16–0904, 16–0905, 2017 WL 5192490 (W. Va. Nov. 9, 2017) (citing Boomer Coal & Coke Co. v. Osenton, 133 S.E. 381, 385 (W. Va. 1926)); see also Dytko v. Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC, Civ. A. No. 5:13CV150, 2016 WL 3983657, at *5 (N.D.W. Va. July 25, 2016) ("[I]t is clear that res judicata may apply to arbitration proceedings."). C.S. did not contest this below.

B. The privity between President Fishel and Bishop Grow, on one hand, and the Church, on the other, satisfies res judicata's second requirement.

Bishop Fishel and President Grow were not parties to the arbitration. But "res judicata applies not only to parties to a prior proceeding in which there was a final judgment but also to those in privity with them." *Baker*, 855 S.E.2d at 353 (quotation marks omitted).

"[T]he privity concept is fairly elastic under West Virginia law, as elsewhere." *Gribben v. Kirk*, 466 S.E.2d 147, 157 n.21 (W. Va. 1995). It is "especially broad when ... res judicata is invoked against a plaintiff who has repeatedly asserted essentially the same claims against different defendants." *Dunlap v. Cottman Transmission Sys., LLC*, 689 F. App'x 188, 189 (4th Cir. 2017).

Privity exists where the parties "represent[] the same legal right." Baker, 855 S.E.2d at 353 (quotation marks omitted). Thus, there is almost always privity between principal and agent. "[T]he employer/employee relationship is sufficient to establish privity," for example. Id. (quotation marks omitted).

Where a plaintiff sues both master and servant "based solely on the tortious conduct of the servant, and the servant is acquitted, there can be

no recovery against the master." Willigerod v. Sharafabadi, 158 S.E.2d 175, 178 (W. Va. 1967) (citation omitted). Likewise, "[w]here respondent superior is the sole asserted basis of liability against an employer for the tort of an employee, an adjudication on the merits in favor of ... the employer ... precludes suit against the [employee]." 50 CJS Judgments § 1077.

In *Kinsley v. Markovic*, 333 F.2d 684, 685 (4th Cir. 1964), where the plaintiff lost his suit against a taxi company, res judicata barred his subsequent claim against the taxi driver "whose conduct had constituted the basis" of the claim against the taxi company. *See also Mears v. Town of Oxford, Md.*, 762 F.2d 368, 371 n.3 (4th Cir. 1985) (privity between a town and defendants who were town representatives acting on its behalf).

In Richardson v. Church of God International, Civ. A. No. 1:13–21821, 2014 WL 4202619 (S.D.W. Va. Aug. 22, 2014), res judicata barred the plaintiff's claims against a pastor and other church leaders because the plaintiff had sued the church and lost. There was privity because the "actions alleged against [the individuals] were all performed in their roles" as "representatives of the Pineville Church of God" and the defendant pastor "share[d] substantial identify of interests with the

Pineville Church of God." *Id.* at *3-4. "[A]ll of the claims against the Church of God [were] based on the alleged actions of the individuals" *Id.* at *4. The individuals and the church "share a common interest of absolving the Pineville Church of God and those associated with the church of any fault." *Id.* Thus, the court dismissed the claims against the individual Defendants based on res judicata. Change the names and that reasoning applies perfectly here.

Similarly, in *Baker*, 855 S.E.2d 344, the plaintiff, Kimberly Baker, sued her employer, Chemours, alleging "hostile environment-gender harassment," gender discrimination, and retaliation (*Baker I*). The mistreatment allegedly continued *after* Baker filed her complaint. After losing on summary judgment, Baker filed a new case against Chemours, adding Kevin Crislip as a defendant (*Baker II*). The circuit court concluded that res judicata barred the claims. Baker appealed, but the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals affirmed. Although Crislip had not been a defendant in *Baker I*, the court had "no difficulty in finding that respondent Crislip is and was in privity with respondent Chemours, the primary defendant in both *Baker I* and *Baker II*." *Id.* at 353. Crislip "was alleged to be in the petitioner's supervisory chain at Chemours'

facility, closing his eyes to acts of discrimination against her and aiding and abetting Chemours in its campaign of harassment and discrimination." *Id.* at 353-54. "[O]ne relationship long held to fall within the concept of privity is that between a nonparty and party who acts as the nonparty's representative." *Id.* at 354 (quotation marks and brackets omitted).

Baker II establishes that if you sue a company because its supervisors allegedly turn a blind eye to misconduct, you cannot subsequently sue the supervisors. That is remarkably like this case where C.S. sued the Church because its clergy allegedly turned a blind eye and failed to protect him from sexual abuse. Res judicata bars his claims against those clergy. See also Horne v. Lightning Energy Serv., L.L.C., 123 F. Supp. 3d 830, 840 (N.D.W. Va. 2015) (manager shared "substantial identity of interest" with employer because "the claims alleged ... all arose out of the same factual circumstances").

And that is plainly not only the correct legal outcome, but a fair outcome against a plaintiff who has had his day in court. Privity "is primarily concerned with assuring fairness towards the party ... against whom res judicata is raised." *Richardson*, 2014 WL 4202619, at *3. It

ensures that the person against whom it is asserted "had a prior opportunity to have litigated his claim." *Baker*, 855 S.E.2d at 353 (quotation marks omitted).

C.S. has now filed three lawsuits based on the same facts. In all three, he unequivocally alleged that "at all relevant times" Bishop Fishel and President Grow acted as Church agents. C.S. cannot point to a single allegation in this case of conduct by Fishel and Grow in their "individual" capacities and not as Church agents. And at no point in the 2013 Lawsuit, the 2019 arbitration, or in this case did the Church deny the identity of interest between it and its clergy. Their conduct was the Church's conduct and would have been the basis for the Church's liability, if the arbitrator had concluded they were negligent.

Further, if Bishop Fishel and President Grow had any duty to protect C.S., it is only because they were the Church's agents. They had

¹² C.S.'s repeated allegation that Bishop Grow and President Fishel were "at all relevant times" Church agents, and the Church's agreement with that fact, should constitute a judicial admission that C.S. cannot now contradict. "A judicial admission is a statement of fact made by a party in the course of the litigation for the purpose of withdrawing the fact from the realm of dispute." Syl. pt. 4, *State v. McWilliams*, 352 S.E.2d 120 (1986).

no relationship with C.S. or his family outside of their responsibilities as Church clergy. "Generally, a person does not have a duty to protect others from the deliberate criminal conduct of third parties." Miller v. Whitworth, 455 S.E.2d 821, 825 (W. Va. 1995). There is an exception where the defendant has a "special relationship" with the injured person. Id. C.S. has repeatedly relied on Bishop Fishel's and President Grow's status as Church clergy as the basis for the "special relationship" that imposed on them a duty to protect him. He alleged that "as clergy," Bishop Fishel and President Grow had a "special relationship with members of the congregation, including [C.S.]" that "gave rise to a duty to protect members of the congregation, including [C.S.] from foreseeable risk of harm" (Appx. 637-38.) "In their capacities as stake president [and] bishop," Fishel and Grow "had a special relationship with members of the congregation" that "gave rise to a duty to protect members" from foreseeable harm. (Appx. 27.)

C.S. had his day in court against Bishop Fishel and President Grow because his claim against the Church was based on their actions. The arbitrator's decision necessarily exonerated them. The arbitrator's decision could only have been based on one or more of the following findings: (1) Michael Jensen did not abuse C.S., (2) the Church's agents owed no duty to C.S., (3) the Church's agents were not negligent, or (4) any negligence was not the proximate cause of the abuse. Any of those conclusions would exonerate Bishop Fishel and President Grow. That alone shows the unity of interest necessary for privity to exist.

Below, C.S. resisted res judicata with *Gentry v. Farraggia*, 53 S.E.2d 741 (W. Va. 1949) and *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 140 S.E.2d 466 (W. Va. 1965). But these cases show why res judicata is applicable to a plaintiff who has had his day in court.

In *Gentry*, a taxicab *owner* lost a lawsuit for damage caused to the cab by a collision. The taxicab *driver* then sued the same defendant for personal injuries. The court held that the owner's failed suit did not preclude a claim by the driver, who had not had his day in court, and sought to recover for rights "entirely separate and distinct" from the owner's rights. *Gentry*, 53 S.E.2d at 742-43.

In *Barnett*, two companies sued each other for an accident involving their trucks. A jury found both drivers at fault and said neither company was entitled to recovery. Subsequently, the driver of one company—who had not had his day in court—sued the other company. The court held

that his claim was not barred. "The mere relationship of master and servant cannot, as against the servant, form a basis for application of the doctrine of res judicata in respect to a judgment rendered in a former in personam action to which the master was a party but to which the servant was not a party" Syl. Pt. 2, Barnett, 140 S.E.2d 466.

Both cases involved injured parties seeking their first chance at recovery. C.S. had his day in court. He seeks a second chance to recover based on the same conduct. Res judicata prohibits that.

C. C.S.'s claims could have been resolved in the arbitration, which satisfies res judicata's third requirement.

C.S. did not contest res judicata's third requirement. His counsel admitted that all claims could have been brought in the arbitration. (Appx. 1259-60.) He did plead legal theories in this case that he did not plead in the arbitration. But a plaintiff cannot avoid res judicata by pleading "a different legal theory" or seeking "different relief" when the subject matter is the same. *Dan Ryan Builders*, 803 S.E.2d at 529.

Because all three of res judicata's requirements are satisfied, this Court can affirm on these alternative grounds.

CONCLUSION

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